NO. 2010-TS-01949

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DEBORAH HUGHES and CRISTEN HEMMINS,

Plaintiffs / Appellants,

VS.

DELBERT HOSEMANN, MISSISSIPPI SECRETARY OF STATE

Defendant / Appellee,

and

P. LESLIE RILEY & PERSONHOOD MISSISSIPPI,

Defendants-Intervenors / Appellees

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

Oral Argument Requested

ROBERT B. MCDUFF Mississippi Bar No 767 North Congress Street Jackson, MS 39202 (601) 969-0802

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Proposed Initiative Measure No. 26 ("Measure 26"), which is scheduled to be placed on the November 2011 ballot, would expressly amend the Mississippi Bill of Rights, as set forth in Article III of the Mississippi Constitution. Measure 26 reads:

Section 1. Article III of the constitution for the state of Mississippi is hereby amended BY THE ADDITION OF A NEW SECTION to read:

Section 33. Person Defined. As used in this Article III of the state constitution, "The term 'person' or 'persons' shall include every human being from the moment of fertilization, cloning, or the functional equivalent thereof."

(R.E. 5, Ex. A at 1)¹ (capital letters and bold in original). Article XV, Section 273(5) of the Mississippi Constitution, however, specifically provides that "the initiative process *shall not be used*... [f]or the proposal, modification, or repeal of any portion of the Bill of Rights of this Constitution." (Emphasis added.)

The issues on this appeal are:

Does Measure 26, which proposes to "amend[]" the Bill of Rights "by the *addition* of a new section," violate Section 273(5)'s prohibition on the "proposal . . . of any portion of the Bill of Rights"?

Does Measure 26, which would "amend[]" the Bill of Rights by adding a definition of the word "person" that did not exist before, violate Section 273(5)'s prohibition on the "modification ... of any portion of the Bill of Rights"?

This brief will designate the record excerpts as "R.E. __ at __," with the first blank referring to the tab number listed in the table of contents to the Record Excerpts and the second to the internal page number in the document. References to the Record on Appeal ("R.A.") will be to "R.A. ___," with the blank referring to the sequential pagination stamped on the bottom of each page.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In November 2008, P. Leslie Riley and an organization known as Personhood Mississippi (hereinafter, "Sponsors") filed Measure 26 with Secretary of State Delbert Hosemann. Measure 26 reads as follows:

Section 1. Article III of the constitution for the state of Mississippi is hereby amended BY THE ADDITION OF A NEW SECTION to read:

Section 33. Person Defined. As used in this Article III of the state constitution, "The term 'person' or 'persons' shall include every human being from the moment of fertilization, cloning, or the functional equivalent thereof."

(R.E. 5, Ex. A at 1) (capital letters and bold in original). On April 1, 2010, the Secretary of State verified that a sufficient number of signatures were submitted by the Sponsors. (R.E. 5, Ex. B.) This cleared the way for Measure 26 to be submitted to the Mississippi Legislature on the first day of the 2011 legislative session, as required by Miss. Code Ann. section 23-17-29, and to appear on the November 2011 ballot.

On July 6, 2010, Appellants filed a *Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief* against Secretary Hosemann in the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County.² (R.E. 4.) Appellants challenged Measure 26 based on the fact that Section 273(5) prohibits the use of the initiative process to attempt the proposal or modification of any portion of the Bill of Rights of the Mississippi Constitution. Because Measure 26 does not comport with constitutional limitations, Appellants sought to enjoin the Secretary of State from placing Measure 26 on the November 2011 ballot.

² This Court previously has held that the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County is the proper venue and has subject matter jurisdiction to review the facial constitutionality of proposed initiatives. See In re Proposed Initiative Measure 20, 774 So.2d 397, 401 (Miss. 2000).

On August 10, 2010, Appellants filed a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. (R.A. 16-23.) Two days later, the Sponsors filed a Motion to Intervene in the circuit court case. (R.A. 35-41.) The Circuit Court subsequently entered an agreed order, which granted the Sponsors leave to intervene as defendants, and confirmed the parties' stipulations that there were no genuine issues of material fact and that the case should be resolved by way of a judgment on the pleadings. (R.E. 6.)

The Sponsors subsequently filed an opposition to the motion for judgment on the pleadings. (R.A. 42-59.) The Secretary of State also filed a response, which focused almost entirely on disputing the Sponsors' argument that the lower court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to hear the case, and not on the merits of Appellants' Section 273(5) arguments. (R.A. 60-65.) With respect to the merits, the Secretary of State stated merely that Measure 26 "garnered more than the minimum number of signatures" necessary for an initiative to be placed on the ballot and that it therefore "should be submitted to the will and wisdom of the voters." (R.A. 63-64.) Appellants have never asserted that sponsors failed to obtain the requisite number of signatures.

On October 26, 2010, the Circuit Court denied *Plaintiffs' Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings*. (R.E. 3.) Even though the sole legal claim in the *Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief* was that Measure 26 runs afoul of the limitations in Section 273(5), the Circuit Court's one and one-quarter page order did not even mention, let alone discuss, Section 273(5). Nor did the Circuit Court provide any legal reasoning for its decision, other than to say that Measure 26 had "received more than the required amount of signatures to be placed on the ballot and the Constitution recognizes the right of citizens to amend their Constitution." (R.E. 3.) On November 9, 2010, a final judgment was entered by the Circuit Court, (R.E. 2), and Appellants

timely filed their Notice of Appeal on November 19, 2010. (R.A. 116.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Pursuant to Section 273, the people of the State of Mississippi may propose a constitutional amendment by initiative. However, Section 273(5) clearly states that "the initiative process shall not be used . . . [f]or the proposal, modification, or repeal of any portion of the Bill of Rights of this Constitution." Measure 26 violates this constitutional prohibition in two ways, either of which requires that it be enjoined from placement on the ballot. First, by its own terms, the proposed initiative provides that "Article III of the constitution for the state of Mississippi is hereby amended BY THE ADDITION OF A NEW SECTION" (R.E. 5, Ex. A at 1) (italics added, capital letters in original). The "addition of a new section" to the Mississippi Bill of Rights is clearly a "proposal . . . of any portion of the Bill of Rights," which is prohibited by Section 273(5). Second, by adding a definition of the words "person" or "persons" so that those terms would encompass "every human being from the moment of fertilization, cloning, or the functional equivalent thereof," (R.E. 5, Ex. A at 1), the proposal modifies at least ten provisions of the Bill of Rights which use those words, and therefore is a "modification . . . of any portion of the Bill of Rights," which is also prohibited by Section 273(5).

If the Court agrees that Measure 26 violates Section 273(5) on either of these grounds, the measure must be held unconstitutional and it will be unnecessary to address the other ground.

ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court's Order (R.E. 3), denying Plaintiffs-Appellants' motion for judgment on the pleadings, and its Final Judgment (R.E. 2), granting judgment to Defendants-Appellees, are purely legal rulings, subject to *de novo* review. *Richardson v. Sara Lee Corp.*, 847 So.2d 821, 823 (Miss. 2003).

While the Mississippi Constitution expressly guarantees to the people "the power to propose and enact constitutional amendments by initiative," Miss. Const. art. XV, § 273(3), it has also placed strict limits on that power. Section 273(5) provides that "[t]he initiative process shall not be used . . . [f]or the proposal, modification, or repeal of any portion of the Bill of Rights of this Constitution." (Emphasis added.) Despite this clear prohibition, Measure 26 would do just that. It proposes a new provision to the Bill of Rights that would modify a term that is used in at least ten of its existing provisions.³

The full text of Measure 26 reads as follows:

SECTION 1. Article III of the constitution for the state of Mississippi is hereby amended BY THE ADDITION OF A NEW SECTION to read:

Section 33. Person defined. As used in this Article III of the state constitution [the Bill of Rights], "The term 'person' or 'persons' shall include every human being from the moment of fertilization, cloning, or the functional equivalent thereof."

(R.E. 5, Ex. A. at 1) (italics added, bold and capital letters in original). This language leaves no doubt that Measure 26: (1) *proposes* that a new portion be added to the Bill of Rights, and (2) *modifies* the words "person" or "persons" as used throughout the Bill of Rights.

As this Court has noted "[t]he construction of a Constitutional Section is of course ascertained from the plain meaning of the words and terms used within it." *Board of Sup'rs of Harrison County v. Duplantier*, 583 So.2d 1275, 1278 (Miss. 1991) (citing cases); *see also Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. State*, 578 So.2d 644, 659 (Miss. 1991) ("Where the language of a

The provisions of the Mississippi Bill of Rights that explicitly use the word "person" or "persons" are: article III, section 8 (Citizens of state); article III, section 10 (Treason); article III, section 12 (Right to bear arms); article III, section 14 (Due process); article III, section 20 (Specific term of office); article III, section 22 (Double jeopardy); article III, section 24 (Open courts; remedy for injury); article III, section 25 (Access to courts); article III, section 27 (Proceeding by indictment or information); article III, section 29 (Excessive bail prohibited; revocation or denial of bail).

constitutional provision is plain, intelligible, and free from all ambiguity, the intent must be taken to be exactly what appears on the face of the instrument, and no process of construction or interpretation is permissible for the purpose of changing that meaning.").

The words of Section 273(5) are simple and direct. The initiative process "shall not be used" for "the proposal, modification, or repeal of any portion of the Bill of Rights." Miss. Const. art. XV, § 273(5) (emphasis added). This Court has previously held that, by explicitly protecting the Bill of Rights from the initiative process, Section 273(5) wisely "seeks to temper the initiative induced tension between the unchecked will of the majority versus the inherent rights of individuals." In re Proposed Initiative Measure No. 20, 774 So.2d 397, 402 (Miss. 2000). As the Court explained, there is good reason for Section 273(5)'s prohibitions. "[T]he initiative movement of recent experience, both in Mississippi and other states, has exposed the danger that special interests can easily manipulate and control the initiative process Section 273 provides reasonable checks against such abuses." Id. at 402-03.

I. MEASURE 26 PROPOSES A NEW PORTION OF THE MISSISSIPPI BILL OF RIGHTS AND THEREFORE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

Measure 26 explicitly amends Article III of the Constitution, which contains the Bill of Rights. The Measure states that "Article III of the constitution for the state of Mississippi is hereby amended BY THE ADDITION OF A NEW SECTION to read:" (R.E. 5, Ex. A at 1) (italics added). In other words, Measure 26 specifically proposes adding a new section – a new "portion" – to the Bill of Rights. That clearly falls within Section 273(5)'s prohibition on any "proposal . . . of [a] portion of the Bill of Rights of this Constitution." Thus, Measure 26 violates Section 273(5).

In the lower court, the Sponsors argued that their measure does not "automatically

constitute the 'proposal' of a new right." (R.A. 50.) That is not accurate, but more importantly, it is beside the point. Section 273(5) prohibits "propos[ing]" "any portion" of the Bill of Rights, not "any right" or "any portion that creates a new right." In other words, Section 273(5) prohibits the proposal of a new "portion" of the Bill of Rights, whether or not that "portion" creates a new right. Measure 26, which – by its terms – would "amend[]" Article III "BY THE ADDITION OF A NEW SECTION," clearly "proposes . . . [a] portion of the Bill of Rights." This is impermissible on its face. For this reason alone, the lower court judgment must be reversed.

II. MEASURE 26 MODIFIES THE MISSISSIPPI BILL OF RIGHTS AND THEREFORE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

Because Measure 26 is unconstitutional for the reason stated in Point I, this Court need not address whether the measure also would constitute a prohibited "modification . . . of any portion of the Bill of Rights." But clearly Measure 26 is such a modification because it contains a definition of the word "person" that is not presently written into the Bill of Rights. That definition affects at least ten of the existing provisions of the Bill of Rights that use the term "person" or "persons."

The Sponsors argued in the lower court that they are not trying to modify the Bill of Rights with their definition of Measure 26, and that Measure 26 is a "simple clarification" that reiterates the plain and ordinary meaning of the word "person." (R.A. 56.) This argument makes no sense. If it were commonly understood that the word "person" in the Bill of Rights already means "every human being from the moment of fertilization, cloning, or the functional equivalent thereof," Measure 26 would serve no purpose. It is precisely because there is no such common understanding that the Sponsors have gone to the time and expense necessary to put this definition on the ballot.

Indeed, a review of the Mississippi Code shows that the proposed definition of "person" in Measure 26 is not a common understanding throughout Mississippi law. For example, Miss. Code Ann. section 97-3-37, which addresses certain criminal offenses, defines "human being" to include "an unborn child at every stage of gestation from conception until live birth," but only "[f]or purposes of the offenses enumerated in this subsection (1)." This provision plainly does not reflect a commonly understood meaning of "human being," but rather sets forth a definition applicable only to specific provisions and criminal offenses, but not others. This definition was added by the legislature for those specific offenses precisely because, absent such a definition, the terms "human being" and "person" do not otherwise encompass every stage of gestation from the moment of fertilization.

Certainly, if the legislature thought it necessary in Miss. Code Ann. section 97-3-37 to specifically define "human being" to include "an unborn child at every stage of gestation from conception until live birth" for the purposes of some, but not all, criminal offenses, and if the Sponsors believe it necessary to add a new section to the Bill of Rights to define "person" to "include every human being from the moment of fertilization, cloning, or the functional equivalent thereof," it cannot be said that these definitions are part of a pre-existing common understanding of Mississippi law that dates back to the drafters of the Bill of Rights and the 1890 Constitution.

If there were such a common understanding, the State would, for example, necessarily include fetuses in "the number of persons which constitutes the norm to be represented by a senator" for redistricting purposes. *See* Miss. Code Ann. § 5-3-99. Likewise, if this were the ordinary meaning of the term "person," teenagers would receive credit for their nine months in the womb and would be entitled to a temporary driving permit approximately fourteen years and

three months after birth, see, e.g., Miss. Code Ann. § 63-1-9(2)(b), and could register to vote approximately seventeen years and three months after birth. See, e.g., Miss. Code Ann. § 23-15-11. This is plainly not the law.

Moreover, there is a general presumption that legal changes have meaning. See, e.g., Stidham v. State, 750 So.2d 1238, 1244-45 (Miss. 1999) ("If we were to interpret the 1890 constitutional provision at issue as having the same meaning as the 1869 constitutional provision, then the change in language . . . would be rendered meaningless. '[W]here the words or provisions of a statute differ from those of a previous statute on the same subject, they are presumably intended to have a different construction or meaning, and to denote an intention to change the law.") (citation omitted); Intel Corp. v. Advanced Micro Devices, Inc., 542 U.S. 241, 243 (2004) (When Congress acts to amend a statute, the court presumes that Congress intends its amendment "to have real and substantial effect.") (citing Stone v. INS, 514 U.S. 386, 397 (1995)); Peavy v. WFAA-TV, Inc., 221 F.3d 158, 169 (5th Cir. 2000) (same); see also Pierce County, Wash. v. Guillen, 537 U.S. 129, 145 (2003) (rejecting narrow interpretation of statute that would render amendment to statutory language "an exercise in futility"). This principle is all the more true here, where the proponents of Measure 26 have spent a considerable amount of time and money to place this initiative on the ballot. Clearly, the measure is intended to modify the Bill of Rights in Article III.

This conclusion is further confirmed by a legal memorandum posted by Defendant-Intervenor Personhood Mississippi on its website, which specifically discusses the ways Measure 26 would change the Bill of Rights in order to extend and expand certain provisions. After the Sponsors argued in the lower court that Measure 26 would not modify the Bill of Rights, this legal memorandum was found by Appellants' counsel and filed in the lower court in reply to the

Sponsors' argument. (R.E. 7, Ex. A); *see also* http://lc.org/media/9980/attachments/memo_ms_ personhood.pdf (last accessed January 18, 2011). The memorandum, entitled "Legal Memorandum on the Mississippi Personhood Amendment," includes the following passages:

The Amendment thus *extends* equal protection of the laws to every human being from the earliest stages of life.

(R.E. 7, Ex. A at 4) (emphasis added).

By adding to Article III of the Mississippi Constitution, which sets forth the state's bill of rights, a new section defining the word 'person' as used in that Article, the proposed Amendment would *expand* application of that term to include the unborn.

(*Id.* at 7) (emphasis added).

As of today, Mississippi law does not prohibit either human cloning or the destruction of human embryos for stem cell research. As noted above, passage of the Personhood Amendment would effectively ban the harvesting of embryonic stem cells for destruction in Mississippi, because the tiny embryos created by cloning would be protected under Article III, Section 14 and its guarantee of due process of law before depriving any 'person' of life.

(*Id.* at 8) (emphasis added). Clearly, the Sponsors are trying to convince voters that Measure 26 would modify the Bill of Rights. Any effort to convince the Courts of Mississippi to the contrary is disingenuous.

Accordingly, because Measure 26 would add a definition of the word "person" or "persons" to the Bill of Rights that presently is not specified by the Constitution, the measure would violate Section 273(5)'s mandate that "the initiative process shall not be used . . . [f]or the . . . modification . . . of any portion of the Bill of Rights."

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, and on the basis of the authorities cited, the judgment of the Circuit Court of Hinds County should be reversed, Measure 26 should be declared unconstitutional and invalid, and the Mississippi Secretary of State should be enjoined from

placing Measure 26 on the ballot in November, 2011.