#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### NO. 2010-TS-01949

**DEBORAH HUGHES and CRISTEN HEMMINS** 

Plaintiffs/Appellants



V.

DELBERT HOSEMANN, MISSISSIPPI SECRETARY OF STATE

Defendant/Appellee

v.

P. LESLIE RILEY & PERSONHOOD MISSISSIPPI,

Defendants-Intervenors/Appellees

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

#### **Parties**

- 1. Deborah Hughes, Plaintiff/Appellant

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

After months of arduous labor and traveling the four corners of the state, the Sponsors finally succeeded in garnering a sufficient number of signatures of qualified electors to warrant acceptance by the Secretary of State and placing the Measure on the ballot in November. Plaintiffs' delay in both filing and prosecuting this action have caused Sponsors great potential harm by leaving them without legislative remedy in the event this Court were to declare Measure 26 unconstitutional, because the Legislative session will have concluded and the Sponsors would not have any opportunity to lobby for formal adoption of their proposed amendment. Such undue delay constitutes a violation of the doctrine of unclean hands, and renders equitable relief inappropriate here.

On the merits, Plaintiffs face a heavy burden to prove beyond any reasonable doubt that Measure 26 violates Section 273(5)(a). Plaintiffs are unable to meet that heavy burden, and the decision of the lower court should be affirmed. Section 273(5)(a) prohibits use of the initiative process for "the proposal, modification or repeal" of "any portion of the Bill of Rights." Measure 26 does not violate the "proposal" clause of Section 273(5)(a) because it does not propose the addition of any new substantive right. Properly understood, considering the context, history, and law of the matter, Section 273(5)(a) was designed to protect the substance of the Bill of Rights, not the mere text. The offering of a simple definition for a term already appearing in the text does not fall

within the prohibition of the "proposal" clause. Measure 26 is but a clarification of a term, not the proposal of a new right.

Similarly, Measure 26 does not violate the "modification" clause of Section 273(5)(a). This Court's precedents, together with numerous decisions from other courts establish beyond any reasonable doubt that there is a significant legal difference between a mere clarification and a modification of a law. Measure 26, which simply defines the term "person," constitutes a permissible clarification, not an impermissible modification.

Finally, Appellants' overly broad interpretation of Section 273(5)(a), if adopted, would implicate serious concerns regarding the infringement of First Amendment rights.

For all of these reasons, this Court should affirm the decision of the lower court.

#### **ARGUMENT**

Plaintiffs, having waited over a year and a half to file their complaint and then unduly delaying this appeal, now ask this Court to declare Measure 26 unconstitutional and to enjoin Secretary Hosemann from placing it on the ballot in November, thereby denying Sponsors the fruit of their hard labor and denying the people of Mississippi the right to vote on this important issue. To reward Plaintiffs for their inexplicable delay in prosecuting this action, which in turn would result in undue prejudice to the rights of Sponsors to attempt to correct any perceived technical defects in Measure 26, would violate the doctrine of unclean hands. Consequently, even if Plaintiffs' arguments were meritorious, which they are not, they should be denied relief.

In any event, Plaintiffs offer virtually no substantive legal argument to support their claim that simply defining an existing term in the Bill of Rights, when that term is not currently defined, somehow exceeds the citizens' right to amend the Constitution by initiative. Plaintiffs argue, without substantiation, that merely adding a new section to the Bill of Rights and clarifying the definition of those to whom existing rights attach represent fundamental changes to the nature of the Bill of Rights which cannot be made by initiative. Decisions by this Court as well as the United States Supreme Court, together with long-accepted understandings of the differences between amending and revising constitutional provisions, demonstrate that Plaintiffs' arguments are without merit.

Measure 26 neither proposes a new right nor modifies existing rights in the Bill of Rights. Instead, it defines the term "person" in the Bill of Rights to clarify when the rights encompassed in Article III inure to all human beings regardless of gestational stage, *i.e.*, from the moment of fertilization, cloning, or the functional equivalent thereof. Far from exceeding citizens' authority under Article XV Section 273(5)(a), Measure 26 provides a cogent example of the people appropriately exercising their near-plenary power to amend the Constitution. *Chevron U.S.A.*, *Inc. v. State*, 578 So. 2d 644, 649 (Miss. 1991).

# I. PLAINTIFFS FACE A HEAVY BURDEN TO DEMONSTRATE THAT MEASURE 26 IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

# A. Measure 26 may not be Enjoined Unless it Appears "Beyond Any Doubt" that it is Unconstitutional.

As the circuit court correctly held and Appellee Hosemann argues, Plaintiffs bear and failed to meet a heavy burden in seeking to have Measure 26 declared unconstitutional. (R.E. 6); (Brief of Appellee at 4, 6-7). This matter is before the Court on appeal of denial of a motion for judgment on the pleadings. Review is *de novo. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co. v. King*, 921 So.2d 268, 270 (Miss. 2005). "Therefore, this Court sits in the same position as did the trial court." *Id.* at 270-271 (citing *Bridges ex rel. Bridges v. Park Place Entertainment*, 860 So.2d 811, 813 (Miss.2003)). A Rule 12(c) motion "should not be granted unless it appears *beyond any reasonable doubt* that the non-moving party will be unable to prove any set of facts in support of the claim which would entitle the non-movant to relief." *King*, 921 So.2d at 271 (emphasis added) (citing *Bridges*, 860 So.2d 811, 813).

Appellee Hosemann, while agreeing that Plaintiffs face a heavy burden, suggests nevertheless that Measure 26 does not enjoy a presumption of constitutionality because it is a citizen initiative rather than a legislative enactment. (Appellee's Brief at 7 n.2) Secretary Hosemann's entire argument rests, however, on the silence of a single case, *In re Proposed Initiative Measure No. 20*, 774 So. 2d 397 (2000). *In re Measure No. 20* did not mention a presumption of constitutionality, but neither did it discuss the matter.

But those cases that have actually addressed the issue have in fact concluded that a citizen initiative does enjoy a presumption of constitutionality. See, e.g., League of Women Voters v. Sec'y of State, 683 A.2d 769, 771 (Me. 1996) (citizen initiative "carries a heavy presumption of constitutionality, and the burden of overcoming that presumption rests on the challenger" because through "the initiative process the people of Maine are exercising their legislative power"); see also Pierce County v. State, 150 Wash. 2d 422, 430, 78 P.3d 640, 646 (2003) ("A statute or initiative measure is presumptively constitutional; consequently, a party asserting that either violates the state constitution 'bears the heavy burden of establishing its unconstitutionality beyond a reasonable doubt." (quoting Amalgamated Transit Union Local 587 v. State, 142 Wash.2d 183, 205, 11 P.3d 762(2000)).

The lower court correctly concluded that Plaintiffs have failed to meet that heavy burden here, and this Court should affirm that determination.

#### B. Plaintiffs Have Unclean Hands.

It is an elementary principle of equity that "he who comes into equity must come with clean hands." In re Estate of Richardson, 903 So.2d 51, 55 (Miss. 2005) (citing Thigpen v. Kennedy, 238 So.2d 744, 746 (Miss.1970)). "The meaning of this maxim is to declare that no person as a complaining party can have the aid of a court of equity when his conduct with respect to the transaction in question has been characterized by wilful inequity...." Richardson, 903 So.2d at 55 (quoting O'Neill v. O'Neill, 551 So.2d 228, 233 (Miss.1989)).

Plaintiffs plainly seek an equitable remedy, namely an injunction prohibiting Secretary Hosemann from placing Measure 26 on the ballot (and thus denying Sponsors the hard-earned fruit of their labor and denying the people of Mississippi the right to vote on this important issue). See, e.g., Madison County v. Mississippi State Highway Comm'n, 191 Miss. 192, 198 So. 284, 287 (1940) ("the remedy of injunction is solely equitable").

In addition, unlike the plaintiffs in *In re Proposed Initiative Measure 20*, 774 So.2d 397 (Miss. 2000), Plaintiffs waited to file their complaint until after Sponsors had completed the long and laborious process of traveling the four corners of the state to solicit signatures from registered voters, sacrificed untold hours in locating and engaging passersby to consider the Measure, painstakingly organized the petitions and filed them with the various circuit clerks, begged and cajoled those clerks to review and certify the

signatures in a timely manner (when the statutory scheme governing the process contains no deadline for the clerks to act), sued the Secretary of State regarding the time for filing their petitions, and finally obtained the Secretary's certification that the petitions had been timely filed and met the onerous requirements of the law.

Moreover, Plaintiffs sought initially "to enjoin the Secretary of State from delivering Measure 26 to the Legislature." (R.E. 4 at ¶6)<sup>2</sup> Plaintiffs therefore sought and obtained an agreed briefing schedule and setting for oral argument on an expedited basis. (R.E. 6) After the lower court's ruling denying Plaintiffs' motion, Plaintiffs failed to seek expedited review in this Court. As a result, Measure 26 has already been delivered to the Legislature, as Secretary Hosemann was required to do. See Brief of Appellee at 1-2 (citing Miss. Code Ann. §23-17-21). This portion of Plaintiffs' requested relief is therefore moot; this Court cannot undo what has already been done.

Plaintiffs did include, apparently somewhat as an afterthought, an additional request that Secretary Hosemann also be enjoined from placing Measure 26 "on the ballot." Arguably, then, Plaintiffs' entire case is not moot (although fairly read it may yet be deemed moot), because it is the Secretary who is charged by law with placing the matter on the ballot. *See* Miss. Code Ann. §23-17-29. Even if not moot, however, it is clear that this matter will not be heard or ultimately determined until well after the Legislature concludes its session, thereby leaving Sponsors without any opportunity to seek a remedy for any technical defect which might be found by this Court. Had Plaintiffs

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Paragraph 6 states in full: "For these reasons, Plaintiffs ask this Court to declare Measure 26 unconstitutional and invalid and to enjoin the Secretary of State from delivering Measure 26 to the Legislature so that it may appear on the November 2011 ballot and further enjoin him from placing it on the ballot." *Id*.

acted promptly and obtained expedited review, however, as equity demands, then Sponsors would have been able to lobby the Legislature to formally adopt Measure 26 and so overcome any alleged deficiency in the Measure resulting from its being purely a citizen initiative. See generally Miss. Const. Art. XV, Section 275(6) ("A constitutional initiative may be adopted by a majority vote of each house of the Legislature."). The restrictions on proposed constitutional amendments contained in Section 273(5), of course, do not apply to proposed amendments offered by the Legislature.

Accordingly, Plaintiffs' delay both in filing this action initially and in bringing this appeal have unduly prejudiced Sponsors, and thus constitute unclean hands barring them from obtaining equitable relief.

# II. MEASURE 26 DEFINES TERMS WITHIN THE EXISTING BILL OF RIGHTS INSTEAD OF PROPOSING NEW RIGHTS.

Plaintiffs attempt to meet their high burden by arguing that Section 273(5)(a) effectively prohibits the addition of any new words to the Bill of Rights. Adopting an overly literal interpretation of Section 273(5)(a)'s prohibition against using the initiative process for a "proposal" of "any portion" of the Bill of Rights, Plaintiffs argue that the mere act of adding a new section to the Bill of Rights simply defining an otherwise undefined term automatically violates Section 273(5)(a). (Plaintiffs' Brief at p. 6). This argument defies logic, common sense, this Court's precedents, and long-established definitions of the people's near-plenary power to amend the Constitution. After all, it is a Bill of Rights, not a bill of words. See, e.g., Jeffrey Jackson and Mary Miller, Encyclopedia of Mississippi Law §19.28 (2010) ("Bills of rights are legally enforceable

enumerations of *rights* that shield the individual from the power of the state.") (emphasis added).

# A. Measure 26 does not Violate the "Proposal" Clause of Section 273(5)(a).

Plaintiffs argue first that Measure 26 violates the "proposal" clause of Section 273(5)(a) because, they claim, it would add a new "portion" to the Bill of Rights. (Plaintiffs' Brief at 6-7)<sup>3</sup> Under Plaintiffs' interpretation of Section 273(5)(a) every word, punctuation mark and even grammatical or typographical error in the Bill of Rights is

Plaintiffs also argue that Measure 26 would modify "at least ten" existing provisions within the Bill of Rights. (Plaintiffs' Brief at 5 n.3) Plaintiffs are once again mistaken. While the term "person" does appear in several other provisions, the contexts are such that it would make very little difference if unborn persons were included, See MISS. CONST. § 8 ("All persons, resident in this state, citizens of the United States, are hereby declared citizens of the state of Mississippi"); § 10 ("No person shall be convicted of treason unless..."); § 12 ("The right of every citizen to keep and bear arms in defense of his home, person, or property..."); § 20 ("No person shall be elected or appointed to office in this state for life or during good behavior"); § 22 ("No person's life or liberty shall be twice placed in jeopardy for the same offense"); § 25 ("No person shall be debarred from prosecuting or defending any civil cause for or against him or herself"); § 26 (court may in certain cases "exclude from the courtroom all persons except such as are necessary in the conduct of the trial"); § 27 ("No person shall, for any indictable offense, be proceeded against criminally by information"); § 29 ("[A]ll persons shall, before conviction, be bailable by sufficient sureties," and references to "when the person has previously been convicted of a capital offense," "a person charged with committing any offense," "if that person is indicted for a felony," "probable cause that the person has committed a felony while on bail," "the court shall revoke bail and shall order that the person be detained," "the person or persons arrested for such offense," conditions that "will reasonably assure the appearance of the person," "Any person who is charged with an offense, . . . ). The Fourteenth Amendment of the federal constitution defines U.S. citizenship in terms of being born, see U.S. CONST. amend. XIV § 1 ("All persons born or naturalized ..."), and the unborn obviously neither hold office, defend themselves, or commit crimes.

Two other sections where the inclusion or exclusion of the unborn might conceivably matter are sections 23 ("The people shall be secure in their persons, houses, and possessions, from unreasonable seizure or search; and no warrant shall be issued without probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation, specially designating the place to be searched and the person or thing to be seized"), and one of the provisions in section 29 (provision for when a release would pose a "special danger to any other person or to the community"). In short, Plaintiffs' suggestion that many other provisions of the Bill of Rights would be modified is much ado about nothing, to borrow a phrase.

frozen in time and untouchable by the very citizens in whom all political power is vested, from whom all political power is derived, from whom government originates and upon whose will the government is founded. See Miss. Const., Art. III, Section 5 ("All political power is vested in, and derived from, the people; all government of right originates with the people, is founded upon their will only, and is instituted solely for the good of the whole.") (emphasis added). Plaintiffs do not and cannot cite any legal authority for their interpretation that would strip Mississippi citizens of the very powers they have reserved to themselves. See, e.g., Power v. Robertson, 130 Miss. 188, 93 So. 769, 776 (1922) ("The Constitution is the product of the people in their sovereign capacity. It was intended primarily to secure the rights of the people against the encroachments of the legislative branch of the government.").

In *Measure No. 20* this Court did not go so far, but merely held that Section 273(5)(a) "protects" the Bill of Rights. *In re Measure No. 20*, 774 So.2d at 402. To "protect" means "to cover or shield from exposure, injury damage or destruction;" "to maintain the status or integrity of especially through financial or legal guarantees: as a: to save from contingent financial loss b: to foster or shield from infringement or restriction." *Merriam-Webster Dictionary*, <a href="http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/protect">http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/protect</a> (last visited March 16, 2011). Therefore, as this Court stated in *Measure No. 20*, Section 273(5)(a)'s prohibitions against proposing, modifying or repealing any portion of the Bill of Rights are designed to prevent the substantive *rights* contained within Article III from being damaged, undermined, or infringed, not, as Plaintiffs claim, to prevent the authors of the Constitution, *i.e.*, the people, from simply clarifying or defining *words* contained in the document.

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